S280322

In the Supreme Court of California

<u>-</u> ------

Jayde Downey,

Plaintiff and Appellant

V.

City of Riverside, et. al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D080377 Appealing from a Judgment Entered in Favor of Defendants Riverside, Ara Sevacherian and Vahram Sevacherian, County Superior Court Case No. RIC 1905830 Honorable Harold W. Hopp, Judge.

JAYDE DOWNEY'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

In *Thing v. LaChusa* ("*Thing*") (1989) 48 Cal. 3d 644, 667-668 this Court held that a claimant may recover damages for negligent infliction of emotional distress (NIED) caused by observing the negligently inflicted injury of a third person if, but only if, the claimant: (1) is closely related to the injury victim; (2) is present at the scene of the injury-producing event at the time it occurs and is then aware that it is causing injury to the victim; and (3) as a result suffers serious emotional distress.

As to the second prong of the *Thing* test, this court held, in *Bird v*. *Saenz* ("*Bird*") (2002) 28 Cal. 4th 910, that bystander NIED claimants in certain medical malpractice cases are also required to plead and prove their presence at the scene, along with their contemporaneous awareness of the causal connection between the defendant's negligent conduct and the resulting injury to the claimant's loved one.

Some lower courts, as in *Fortman v. Förvaltningsbolaget Insulan* ("*Fortman*") (2013) 212 Cal.App.4th 830, acknowledge the language of the second prong of the *Thing* test, but attach the additional *Bird* 'contemporaneous awareness of the causal connection" between the injury and defendant's wrongful conduct test in contexts other than medical malpractice cases. This is what the courts below did in the case now at bench.

Here, the issue presented to this court is whether a bystander NIED claimant -- in a traffic accident case – should be required to plead and prove

her contemporaneous awareness of the causal connection between the harmful conduct of each defendant's acts and the injuries to her loved one. Downey submits the answer to that question is "no".

SUMMARY OF FACTS AND ARGUMENT

Jayde Downey filed a Third Amended Complaint against the municipality that owned and maintained a dangerous intersection (City of Riverside), the owner of the hazardously maintained private property adjacent to that intersection (Sevacherian), and the driver of a car (Martin), all of whom were alleged to be responsible for causing an automobile vs. automobile collision that caused severe injuries to her daughter, Malyah Vance (Vance ¹). Downey's operative complaint pleads only a bystander NIED claim.

Downey's operative complaint established she was virtually present at the scene of the collision as she contemporaneously perceived it causing horrendous injuries to Vance. The courts below, invoking *Bird v. Saenz* ("*Bird*") (2002) 28 Cal.4th 910 and *Fortman v. Förvaltningsbolaget Insulan* ("*Fortman*") (2013) 212 Cal.App.4th 830 found Downey's complaint legally insufficient because she did not also allege her contemporaneous

7

¹ Neither Vance nor Martin are appellants, but they are parties to the Vance personal injury case still pending in the trial court.

awareness of the causal connection between Vance's injuries and the hazardous condition City's intersection or Sevacherian's deficient landscaping obscuring the drivers' view of oncoming traffic.

Thing v. LaChusa (1989) 48 Cal. 3d 644 makes clear that, as in this case, it is enough that the bystander-NIED claimant contemporaneously perceives the injurious accident as it is causing injuries to her loved one. She need not also be contemporaneously aware of the specific acts of wrongful conduct of the City or Sevacherian that caused the injury-producing event.

However, in the context of some medical malpractice cases, this Court has held a bystander NIED claimant is required to establish a contemporaneous awareness of the causal connection between the defendant's negligent conduct and the resulting injury, *Bird*, Id., 28 Cal. 4th at 918, citing *Golstein v. Superior Court* (1990) 223 Cal. App. 3d 1415, 1427-1428. Some lower courts, notably *Fortman*, impose this as an additional pleading requirement in (at least) defective product claims. The case at bench expands this rule to dangerous roads and negligently maintained land that are (at least) contributing causes of a traffic accident.

Paraphrasing liberally from the concurring and dissenting opinion of Justice Dato, the argument adopted by the trial court and endorsed by the court below was considered and rejected by the court in *Walsh v. Tehachapi Unified School Dist.* ("*Walsh*") E.D. Cal., Aug. 26, 2013, No. 1:11-cv-01489 LJO JLT) 2013 WL 4517887. The *Walsh* court explained that *Bird* simply

applies what *Thing* already requires: the bystander's awareness at the time of the injury-producing event of a causal connection between the victim's injuries and the injury-producing event, thereby making the two interchangeable. However, the two do not always occur in tandem and are not always synonymous with one another. When the two diverge, it is the injury-producing event that matters. Here, the injury-producing event is the auto collision and there is no dispute Downey perceived it causing injury to her loved one, see *Walsh*, supra, WL 4517898 at page *8 and Slip Opinion/Dissent at pg. 7-8.

In the traditional fire, explosion, and auto collision cases, a requirement that such claimants also be contemporaneously aware of the causal connection between the defendant's tortious conduct and a loved one's injuries imposes an additional pleading-and-proof burden that is not required by *Thing*. As in the case at bench, the additional pleading and proof requirement is unnecessary (under *Thing*) and almost insurmountable.

Fortman thus injects confusion into this body of law. This confusion is explicitly noted and left unresolved by the Judicial Council Advisory Committee on Civil Jury Instructions at CACI 1621 (Essential Elements for Recovery of Damages/Bystander NIED Claimant).

Although the court below unanimously reversed and granted leave to amend, petitioner respectfully submits the 2-1 majority was incorrect as to imposing an inappropriate burden on Downey. The operative complaint states a proper bystander NIED claim under the formulation laid down in *Thing*. Save for certain medical malpractice cases where an injurious event is not contemporaneously perceived (or perceivable) by the bystander, the second prong of the *Thing* test is satisfied upon the NIED claimant's presence at the scene coupled with her contemporaneous perception that an injurious event is causing injury to her loved one.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The present matter arises from an automobile accident that occurred on December 4, 2018. The Factual and Procedural Background from the opinion of the appellate court below lays out a clear statement of what occurred that day (Pages 4-5 of the Slip Opinion/Majority):

"In December 2018, Vance was driving eastbound on Via Zapata and entering the intersection of Via Zapata and Canyon Crest Drive when her vehicle was struck by a vehicle owned and operated by Evan Martin, who was traveling southbound on Canyon Crest Drive. Vance suffered serious personal injuries as a result of the collision. Canyon Crest Drive and Via Zapata are public streets in Riverside. City owned, managed, supervised, controlled, and/or maintained Canyon Crest Drive at or near the intersection at Via Zapata. Sevacherian owned, managed, supervised, controlled, and/or maintained the real property adjacent to the intersection.

"At the time of the collision, Downey was on the phone with Vance giving her directions to get to a realtor's office close to the intersection.

Downey knew Vance was close to the Via Zapata/Canyon Crest Drive intersection and would have to stop there. Downey heard Vance in a selftalk voice say something like 'I'm gonna go left, I'm gonna go left, OK. . . OK. . . OK'—in a manner and tone that Downey understood was consistent with Vance waiting to turn left and mentally 'checking off' traffic on Canyon Crest Drive as the traffic approached and cleared the intersection before she could turn. Then, in rapid succession, Downey heard Vance take an audibly sharp, gasping breath; her frightened or shocked exclamation: 'Oh!' and the simultaneous, or near-simultaneous sounds of an explosive metal-on-metal vehicular crash; shattering glass; and rubber tires skidding or dragging across asphalt. Downey had not heard the sounds of skidding tires or squealing brakes in the seconds immediately preceding the impact. Then and there, Downey knew from the combination of the sounds she heard, and from having directed Vance where to drive, that Vance had been injured in a highvelocity motor vehicle collision at or near Via Zapata at Canyon Crest Drive.

"As the sound of tires skidding or dragging across asphalt diminished, and having heard no sounds or vocalizations from Vance, Downey understood Vance was injured so seriously she could not speak. Downey immediately left her office, telling people there something like, 'I have to go, my daughter has been in a car accident, I have to go.' As Downey ran to her car and started driving toward the scene of the incident, she called out to Vance. For a time, Downey heard nothing, but then heard the sound of

rustling in Vance's car. Downey started screaming into her phone, 'Can you hear me? Can you hear me? I can hear you, can you hear me?' She then heard a male voice say something like, 'Would you stop? I'm trying to find a pulse.' Downey waited, then asked, 'Is she alive?' Moments later, the man said, "She breathed. I got a breath." He then said something like: 'What I am going to tell you to do is going to be the hardest thing you will ever do in your life. I want you to hang up your phone and call 911 and have them respond to Via Zapata and Canyon Crest Drive in Riverside.""

Additionally, the third amended complaint pleads, rather generally, City's liability for maintaining a dangerous condition of the intersection, and Sevacherian for maintaining the landscaping near the intersection in such a condition that it obstructed the view of vehicular traffic turning left, eastbound to northbound so as that Martin and Vance could not see each other's cars, C.T., Vol 2, 294-304.

In ruling on the demurrers of Sevacherian and the City, the trial court held that the complaint did not establish that Downey had a contemporaneous awareness the causal connection between the Respondents' tortious conduct and the injuries sustained by Vance. Therefore, Downey's NIED claim could not withstand the demurrers, C.T. 407.

The trial court entered orders dismissing the City and Sevacherian with prejudice on October 29, 2021, and November 9, 2021, respectively. Although Downey's notice of appeal referred to a judgment entered

following the sustaining of the demurrer, the court below construed the notice of appeal as referring to the October and November 2021 orders dismissing the City and Sevacherian, C.T. 413-416. The opinion of the Court of Appeals was filed on April 26, 2023. This Court granted Appellant's Petition for Review on July 19, 2023.

STANDARD ON REVIEW

In determining whether plaintiff properly stated a claim for relief, reviewing courts will treat the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded, but not contentions, deductions, or conclusions of fact or law. The Court will give the complaint a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context, *Zelig v. County of Los Angeles* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112, 1126.

Although the standard is effectively de novo review, the positions staked out by the majority and minority positions in the court below are quite developed, well-considered and, we expect, raise some of the same questions or concerns this Court will have. So, we address them at length.

ARGUMENT

I Appellant Demonstrated Contemporaneous Awareness of the Traffic Collision Causing Injuries to her Daughter, So She Should Not be Required to Plead or Prove her Awareness of Each Defendant's Wrongful Conduct

It has long been held that a claimant may recover damages for emotional distress caused by observing the negligently inflicted injury of a third person if, but only if, the claimant: (1) is closely related to the injury victim; (2) is present at the scene of the injury-producing event at the time it occurs and is then aware that it is causing injury to the victim; and (3) as a result suffers serious emotional distress, *Thing*, supra, 48 Cal. 3d at 667-668. As was the case in *Thing*, it is the second prong of the *Thing* test that is at issue here.

In this matter, the court of appeal was unanimous in its conclusions that Downey was virtually present via cell phone technology at the scene of the injury-producing traffic collision, and that she was contemporaneously aware the collision was causing injuries to her daughter. Of course, Downey has no quarrel with these findings.

However, the court below was divided on whether Downey was also required to plead and prove a contemporaneous awareness of the connection between the harmful or wrongful conduct of each defendant with her daughter's injuries:

The majority answered that question in the affirmative, holding the operative complaint did not establish that Downey was contemporaneously aware of the causal connection between the defendant's harmful conduct—the dangerous condition of the roadway and/or negligent maintenance of vegetation abutting the roadway---and the injuries to her daughter.

The majority opinion adopted this holding from the body of bystander NIED claims arising from medical malpractice cases, and Fortman which extends these holding to (at least) defective product cases. In Fortman, a bystander NIED claim was denied to the sister of a deceased scuba diver against the manufacturer of the defective regulator that killed her brother. Sister and Brother were scuba diving together. During that dive, "...it is undisputed that Fortman (the sister) was present and aware that her brother was suffering an injury," Fortman, supra, 212 Cal. App. 4th at 836. The sister had witnessed her brother falling unconscious but believed it was due to a heart attack, not the defective equipment which was, in fact, the case. The court of appeal stated in that case: "to satisfy the second *Thing* requirement the plaintiff must experience a contemporaneous sensory awareness of the causal connection between the defendant's infliction of harm and the injuries suffered by the close relative." (Fortman, supra, 212 Cal. App. 4th a830, 836.) But to demonstrate that awareness, Fortman had to prove she was then aware of the causal connection between the company's defective product and the resulting injury, Fortman, supra, at 212 Cal. App. 4th at 846. 332.

The dissenting opinion by Justice Dato answered the question in the negative. As the complaint established that Downey was contemporaneously aware of the injury-producing collision as it was causing injuries to her daughter, he would have reversed the trial court. He noted there is a long line of cases dating back to *Dillon v. Legg* (1968) 68 Cal.2d 728 (*Dillon*), in

which this Court has made clear emotional distress is compensable where a plaintiff closely related to the victim contemporaneously perceives the "injury-producing event" and understands that it is causing injury to their loved one.

At a minimum, apart from the cases arising in the context of medical malpractice cases where perception of an injury-producing event can sometimes not be perceived, *Fortman* injects some unnecessary confusion as to what "injury producing event" must be perceived by an otherwise qualified NIED claimant. The Judicial Council Advisory Committee on Civil Jury Instructions breaks the second prong of the *Thing* into two components at CACI 1621 (Essential Elements for Recovery of Damages/Bystander NIED Claimant) and states:

- 2. That when the [traffic collision] that caused injury to [Vance] occurred, plaintiff [Downey] was virtually present at the scene [through cell phone technology];
- 3. That [Downey] was then aware that the [auto collision] was causing injury to [Vance].

However, the CACI 1621 Instructions for Use provides, in pertinent part:

"There is some uncertainty as to how the 'event' should be defined in element 2 and then exactly what the plaintiff must perceive in element 3.

When the event is something dramatic and visible, such as a traffic

accident or fire, it would seem that the plaintiff need not know anything about why the event occurred. (See Wilks v. Hom (1992) 2 Cal.App.4th 1264, 1267 [3 Cal.Rptr.2d 803]) [...] And the California Supreme Court has stated that the bystander plaintiff need not contemporaneously understand the defendant's conduct as negligent, as opposed to harmful. (Bird v. Saenz (2002) 28 Cal.4th 910, 920 [123 Cal.Rptr.2d 465, 51 P.3d 324].) [...] But what constitutes perception of the event is less clear when the victim is clearly in observable distress, but the cause of that distress may not be observable. It has been held that the manufacture of a defective product is the event, which is not observable, despite the fact that the result was observable distress resulting in death. (See Fortman v. Förvaltningsbolaget Insulan AB (2013) 212 Cal. App. 4th 830, 843–844 [151 Cal. Rptr. 3d 320].) In another observable distress case, medical negligence that led to distress resulting in death was found to be perceivable because the relatives who were present observed the decedent's acute respiratory distress and were aware that defendant's inadequate response caused her death. (See Keys v. Alta Bates Summit Medical Center (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 484, 489-490. [185] Cal.Rptr.3d 313]. It might be argued that observable distress is the event and that the bystanders need not perceive anything about the cause of the distress. However, these cases indicate that is not the standard. But if it is not necessary to comprehend that negligence is causing the distress, it is not clear what it is that the bystander must perceive in element 3. Because of this uncertainty, the Advisory Committee has elected not to try to express element 3 any more specifically," (CACI 1621 Vol. 1, Page 1054 (2023), emphasis added).

In the case at bench, Downey was virtually present and perceived events that were "dramatic and visible," and the cause of that distress – a traffic accident – was 'observable.' Thus, it would seem that Downey need not know anything about why the event occurred under the rule established by *Thing*. However, under the rule established in the case at bench, for potentially every bystander NIED claimant, in any kind of case, there is a further requirement of contemporaneous awareness of the specific wrongful acts committed by each responsible defendant as they are causing injury to a loved one.

On this point, the voice of dissenting Justice Dato is informative. He observed that the California Supreme Court understood that its discussion in *Bird* was necessarily contextual:

"Justice Werdegar made a point of characterizing the action as a medical negligence case in the first sentence of, and repeatedly throughout, her opinion." (28 Cal.4th at pp. 912, 917–922.)

Further expounding on this Court's opinions in this area, Justice Dato wrote: "[T]he (Supreme) court noted in *Thing* that what justifies the award of emotional distress damages is 'the traumatic emotional effect on the plaintiff who contemporaneously observes both the event *or* conduct that

causes serious injury to a close relative and the injury itself.' (*Thing*, supra, 48 Cal.3d at p. 667, emphasis added.) Phrased in the disjunctive, *Thing* makes clear it is enough that the bystander-plaintiff contemporaneously perceives the accident; she need not also be aware of the underlying negligent cause."

Downey respectfully submits Justice Dato is correct. There is a distinction to be made between many medical malpractice cases, as in *Bird* and "collision/fire/explosion" cases. Justice Dato, citing the case of *Walsh* proposes that the additional element being imposed on bystander NIED claimants that they be contemporaneously aware of the underlying negligent cause of an injury-producing traumatic accident, results from a misreading of *Bird*:

"[T]he Walsh court explained that Bird "simply appl[ies] what Thing already requires: a plaintiff must be aware at the time of the injury-producing event of a causal connection between the victim's injuries and the injury-producing event." (Walsh, at p. *8.) It added that to the extent Bird's analysis "focused on a defendant's negligent conduct, it was only because the court first identified the negligent conduct as the injury producing event, thereby making the two interchangeable. The two, however, do not always occur in tandem and are not always synonymous with one another. And when the two do diverge, it is the injury-producing event that matters." (Walsh, at p. *8.)

The injury-producing event in this case is an automobile collision, which the majority concedes Downey perceived."

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