#### **FILED WITH PERMISSION**

### S280322

# In the Supreme Court of California

## Jayde Downey,

Plaintiff and Appellant

V.

### City of Riverside, et. al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D080377 Appealing from a Judgment Entered in Favor of Defendants Riverside, Ara Sevacherian and Vahram Sevacherian, County Superior Court Case No. RIC 1905830 Honorable Harold W. Hopp, Judge.

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Michael A. Verska, Sr. Deputy City Attorney, Bar No. 207213

### OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY – CITY OF RIVERSIDE

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether "[i]n order to recover damages for negligent infliction of emotional distress as a bystander to an automobile accident allegedly caused by dangerous conditions on nearby properties, must the plaintiff allege that she was contemporaneously aware of the connection between the conditions of the properties and the victim's injuries?"

### INTRODUCTION

This case asks whether California courts should require a Plaintiff to allege a causal connection between the alleged negligent conduct involving dangerous condition of property and the injury to a loved one? Yes. Both the trial court and appellate court opinions applied the *Thing v. La Chusa* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 644 "three mandatory requirements" for NIED claims including the second requirement that Jayde Downey must plead and prove contemporaneous awareness of the injury-producing event. The injury producing event is not just knowledge of injury, but rather contemporaneous knowledge of the allegedly malfeasant act or omission by each specific defendant. As to City of Riverside, the injury-producing event is alleged defective engineering design of the intersection. Jayde Downey cannot meaningfully perceive defective engineering design as such awareness is "beyond the awareness of lay bystanders" as a matter of law. *Bird v. Saenz* (2002) 28 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 910, 917. Further, the injury-producing event as to City of Riverside and/or Sevacherian Defendants is just not subject to auditory perception.

As to Sevacherians, the injury-producing event is alleged overgrown vegetation blocking line of sight on oncoming traffic heading down Canyon Crest. Jayde Downey could not have had contemporaneous awareness of this alleged injury-producing event either as she could not auditorily perceive an alleged line-of-sight obstruction as to on-coming traffic. The factual allegations of the third-amended complaint foreclose reasonable amendment for Jayde Downey to state a cause of action.

The Doctrine of Truthful Pleadings precludes Jayde Downey's ability to allege requisite contemporaneous knowledge. The operative Third-Amended Complaint contains key factual allegations that foreclose Jayde Downey's ability to allege contemporary knowledge of *either* alleged injury-producing event. Paragraph 10 alleges that Jayde Downey guided her daughter specifically toward this intersection rather than other intersection routes of egress in a cell phone conversation. Obviously, this fact is completely inconsistent with any potential pleading allegation of contemporaneous awareness of intersection "dangerous engineering design"—much less contemporaneous awareness of said design being the injury-producing event causing injury.

Paragraph 10 of the operative complaint further alleges: "Plaintiff DOWNEY heard plaintiff VANCE, in a self-talk voice said, something like "I'm gonna go left, OK...OK...OK"—in a manner and tone of voice that plaintiff DOWNEY understood was consistent with plaintiff VANCE waiting to turn left and mentally 'checking off' traffic on Canyon Crest as it approached and cleared the intersection before she could turn left." The alleged facts are that DOWNEY contemporaneously understood her daughter stopped and specifically saw approaching traffic and waited for each car to clear before proceeding into the intersection. There are no facts alleging that DOWNEY understood her daughter had any difficulty seeing approaching traffic. Rather, the pleading allegations suggest that she stopped and specifically saw approaching traffic and waited for that oncoming traffic to clear the intersection before proceeding.

The facts alleged in the operative Complaint are inconsistent with contemporaneous knowledge of injury producing event as a matter of law. Knowledge of injury *after* the injury-producing event is insufficient to confer liability for negligent infliction of emotional distress as a matter of law. *Bird v. Saenz* (2002) 28 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 910, 915-916; and footnote 2. *Thing v. La Chusa* (1989) 48n Cal.3d 644, 668 [Disapproving inter alia *Nazaroff v. Superior Court* (1978) 80 Cal.App.3d 553

premises liability NIED decision that erroneously held perception of the immediate harm was sufficient].

A majority of the Court of Appeal, like the trial court, answered that question in the affirmative while giving the Plaintiff an opportunity to allege additional potential facts establishing that she had familiarity with, and knowledge and awareness of, the intersection and the dangerous conditions created by the City and Sevacherian as this would be the "contemporary sensory awareness of the causal connection between the [defendants'] negligent conduct and the resulting injury.' (citing *Bird* 28 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 918). (Opinion). And yet, the Plaintiff could not and did not subsequently amend. Instead, Plaintiff seeks the Supreme Court's reversal of *Bird v. Saenz* (2002), 28 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 910, after 34 years of guidance since this court's landmark decision in *Thing v. La* Chusa setting forth the three "mandatory requirements" for liability in this context. Jayde Downey proposes a return to the standards previously set forth in the *Dillon v*. Legg (1968) 68 Cal.2d 728, the era of case- by-case basis determination of foreseeability. This Court already discerned that Dillon produced arbitrary and conflicting results and "ever widening circles of liability" Bird supra at 915. Requiring Plaintiff to allege the three prongs as prescribed by *Thing v. La Chusa* (1989) 3d 644 against each Defendant is proper, especially where a plaintiff's liability arguments are so attenuated. Counsel for Jayde Downey did not present sufficient facts to state a claim at the trial court level, the appellate court, or to this court because facts needed to meet the second mandatory requirement for NIED would necessarily be pure fiction.

The Doctrine of Truthful Pleadings precludes Jayde Downey from alleging qualifying facts as those qualifying facts would necessarily conflict with known existing facts and Plaintiff's admissions against interest in deposition. Engineering design did not cause the collision with Evan Martin proceeding down Canyon Crest—Malyah Vance running the stop sign without even looking for oncoming traffic caused the collision. The operative pleading artfully but erroneously suggests that

daughter Malyah Vance stopped to look for oncoming traffic because Jayde Downey interpreted and erroneously assigned meaning to ambiguous vocalizations. Both Malyah Vance and Jayde Downey have testified in deposition that they have no evidence that she stopped or even looked before running the stop sign and causing the accident, but rather admitted that she caused the accident by running the stop sign.

The case at bench should not be the "pebbles cast into the pond" that creates further ripples of liability. The general rule is one of non-liability for emotional injury without physical impact in California and surrounding jurisdictions. See discussion in *Amaya v. Home Ice, Fuel & Supply Co.* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 295, 302-304. Liability for pure emotional distress has and should always be a very *limited* exception to the general rule of non-liability. Jayde Downey erroneously urges this court to expand the limited exception to now swallow the general rule of non-liability. And this avenue for expanding NIED recovery is built upon a fiction of suggestion, smoke, and mirrors rather than actual provable fact.

First, Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeal's judgment as to the correctness of sustaining the demurrer and hold that: (1) California Courts should require Plaintiffs to allege the second prong of *Thing*, contemporary awareness of the causal connection between the negligent conduct and the injury producing event, against *each* Defendant involved in a bystander NIED case involving dangerous conditions of property.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 4, 2018, Plaintiff MALYAH JANE VANCE ("VANCE") and Defendant EVAN THEODORE MARTIN ("MARTIN") were involved in a vehicle accident. CT 295-297.

The accident occurred while VANCE was driving eastbound on Via Zapata and entered the intersection of Via Zapata and Canyon Crest Drive. CT 295-297. Plaintiff DOWNEY was on the phone with VANCE assisting VANCE with directions to get her to her destination as Plaintiff DOWNEY alleges, she was familiar with the area.

CT 295-297. Thereafter, VANCE's vehicle was allegedly struck by MARTIN's vehicle while MARTIN was traveling southbound on Canyon Crest Drive. CT 295-297. As a result of said collision, VANCE alleges she suffered personal injuries. CT 295-297. Plaintiff DOWNEY was on the phone with VANCE and heard the collision over the phone. CT 295-297. She now seeks recovery for emotional distress under a theory of bystander recovery. CT 298-300.

Plaintiff DOWNEY alleges only the First Cause of Action for Dangerous Condition of Public Property against the CITY. CT 298-300. The core of Plaintiff DOWNEY's complaint against the City is that cars parked on Canyon Crest Drive obstructed VANCE's view and the speed limit on Canyon Crest was too high. CT 298-300. Plaintiff DOWNEY was on the phone with VANCE and only auditorily perceived the collision. CT 295-297.

On November 23, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"). CT 124-162. Defendants Ara and Vahram SEVACHERIAN filed a demurrer to Plaintiff DOWNEY's SAC arguing that DOWNEY could not recover for emotional distress because she was not at the scene of the incident and therefore could not satisfy all of the elements under a "bystander" theory of liability. CT 192-202. The Court ultimately sustained the demurrer with leave to amend, explaining that the SAC did not demonstrate awareness of the causal connection between Defendants' conduct (the condition of the premises) and the injury to the close relative. CT 290-291. Judge Lucky explained: "The essence of bystander recovery is that the plaintiff experiences a contemporary sensory awareness of the causal connection between the defendant's infliction of harm and a close relative's injury. (Fortman v. Forvaltningsbolaget Insulan AB (2013) 212 Cal.App.4th 830, 836; see also Ko v. Maxim Healthcare Services, Inc. (2020) 58 Cal.App.5th 1144, 1159 (Ko).)" CT 290-291. The ruling also stated: "Plaintiff cites no decision that holds that an auditory perception alone, without further awareness of an injury-causing event, is sufficient." CT 290-291.

Plaintiffs filed a Third Amended Complaint ("TAC"). CT 294-308. The only substitutive change Plaintiffs made to their allegations against the CITY was adding subsections A, B, and C to paragraph 10. CT 296-297. The City responded by filing a demurrer to the TAC arguing that Plaintiff DOWNEY could not perceive any dangerous condition of public property caused by alleged obstruction of view or a posted speed limit at the time of the collision because she was on the phone with VANCE and therefore, as a matter of law, cannot auditorily perceive the alleged dangerous conditions. CT 320-333. The Court's ruling made reference to *Thing v. La Chusa*, (1989) 48 Cal.3d 644, where the focus was on the same issue present here, whether the bystander observed or experienced the negligent causing event. The ruling found DOWNEY had no contemporaneous awareness of the injury-causing event, or, in other words, PLAINTIFF DOWNEY had no awareness of the alleged dangerous condition of public property caused by the City as expressly defined by Plaintiff DOWNEY in the operative complaint. The Court sustained the City's Demurrer as to the First Cause of Action without leave to amend. CT 407.

Thereafter, the case was fully briefed and argued before the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One. On April 26, 2023, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion, affirming the granting of the demurrer but reversing the "orders sustaining City's and Sevacherian's demurrers without leave to amend and direct the trial court to overrule the demurrers with leave to amend" (Opinion, at 29).

The Opinion was 2-1, with Justices O'Rourke and McConnell in the majority and Justice Dato dissenting. Plaintiff filed a timely Petition for review which was granted. The issue identified for briefing is the following: "Petition for review after the Court of appeal reversed the judgment in civil action. This case presents the following issue: In order to recover damages for negligent infliction of emotional distress as a bystander to an automobile accident allegedly caused by dangerous conditions on nearby properties, must the plaintiff allege that she was contemporaneously aware of the connection between the conditions of the properties

and the victim's injuries?"

# A. WHEN THE PLAINTIFF CANNOT MEANINGFULLY COMPREHEND WHAT DANGEROUS DESIGN OR MAINTENANCE OF A PUBLIC ROAD OR PRIVATE PROPERTY IS CAUSING THE INJURY, THEN PLAINTIFF CANNOT SATISFY THE SECOND REQUIREMENT OF THING

Thing establishes the requirements for a bystander negligent infliction of emotional distress ("NIED") cause of action. The California Supreme Court in *Thing* re-defined the scope of bystander recovery by creating a more stringent definition of the requirement of contemporaneous observance of the event and injury. *Thing* stressed the requirement of observation of the injury-causing event, the injury, and the causal connection between them. *Id.* at 675-677. The Court's rational was that certainty in the law dictates limitation of bystander recovery of damages for emotional distress. Unless and until the Supreme Court revisits *Thing*, it is binding on this Court. *Fortman*, *supra* at 844 (citing *Auto Equity Sales*, *Inc. v. Superior Court*, (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.).<sup>1</sup>

In *Bird v. Saenz*, (2002) 28 Cal. 4th 910, the California Supreme Court revisited the second *Thing* requirement of contemporaneous presence. In that case, the California Supreme Court held an NIED claim could not be maintained by the adult daughters of a woman who suffered the negligent transection of an artery during a medical procedure because they were not present in the operating room and only learned of the accident when they were later told by another surgeon of the accident, even though they suffered emotional distress from learning their mother had suffered

Courts have routinely applied *Thing*'s strict standard when deciding other bystander cases. For example, in *Golstein v. Superior Court*, (1990) 223 Cal. App. 3d 1415, parents brought an action against a hospital after their son was negligently given a fatal overdose of radiation during treatment for a curable cancer. The trial court sustained a demurrer without leave to amend filed by the hospital. On appeal, the parents challenged the ruling on the demurrer arguing that since radiation is invisible its fatal dosage cannot be seen, it would be unjust to deny them recovery. However, the Court of Appeal denied the parents' writ of mandate finding that negligent infliction of emotional distress was not allowed in applying *Thing* because the parents could not experience a contemporaneous sensory awareness of the causal connection between the negligent conduct and the resulting injury.

a possible stroke, seeing her rushed to surgery, and *hearing an urgent call over the hospital loudspeaker* for a thoracic surgeon. *Id.* at 915-916. The California Supreme Court held that the plaintiffs in *Bird* could not recover emotional distress damages because, at the time of the injury, they were unaware that defendants' conduct was to blame- they had no sensory perception whatsoever of the transection at the time it occurred. *Id.* 

Similarly, the Court of Appeal in *Ra v. Superior Court* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 142, 144–145, concluded the plaintiff could not recover on her NIED claim arising from her emotional distress upon *hearing a loud crash* in a clothing store from the area where her husband was shopping, then learning a sign had fallen on his head. The Court of Appeal concluded the plaintiff's "...fear for her husband's safety at the time she heard the loud bang emanating from the part of the store where she knew he was shopping and her belief the possibility of his injury was more likely than not are insufficient as a matter of law to establish contemporaneous awareness of her husband's injuries at the time of the injury-producing accident within the meaning of *Thing* [citation omitted] and *Bird* [citation omitted]." *Id.* at 152-153.

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